
From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting 
officer or from Paul Radcliffe, Policy and Strategy Lead, to whom any apologies for absence 
should be notified.

INTEGRATED CARE AND WELLBEING SCRUTINY PANEL

Day: Thursday
Date: 14 March 2019
Time: 6.00 pm
Place: Lesser Hall 2 - Dukinfield Town Hall

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page 
No

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2.  MINUTES 1-2

To approve as a correct record, the Minutes of the proceedings of the 
Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel held on 10 January 2019.

3.  CARERS IN TAMESIDE 

The Panel to meet Sandra Whitehead, Assistant Director for Adult Services; 
and Julie Moore, Integrated Neighbourhood Manager to receive a progress 
update on past recommendations from the review of Carers undertaken in 
2017.

a)  CARERS EXECUTIVE RESPONSE UPDATE 3-8

b)  REVIEW OF CARERS IN TAMESIDE 9-32

4.  SCRUTINY BUDGET LETTER 33-34

The Chair to update members on the annual budget letter presented at the 
joint meeting of Executive Cabinet and Overview (Audit) Panel on 13 February 
2019.

5.  CHILDREN'S WORKING GROUP 

The Deputy Chair to update members on activity of the working group 
meetings that took place on 16 January 2019 and 27 February 2019.

6.  QUALITY OF CARE HOMES 35-40

The Panel to review an update paper and initial findings on the recent activity 
undertaken on the Quality of Care Homes in Tameside.

7.  CHAIR'S UPDATE 

The Chair to provide a verbal update on recent activity and future priorities for 
the Panel.

Public Document Pack



From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting 
officer or from Paul Radcliffe, Policy and Strategy Lead, to whom any apologies for absence 
should be notified.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page 
No

8.  DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

To note that this is the last formal meeting of the Panel for the 2018/19 
municipal year.

9.  URGENT ITEMS 

To consider any additional items the Chair is of the opinion shall be dealt with 
as a matter of urgency.



Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel
10 January 2019

Commenced: 6.00pm

Terminated: 7.30pm

Present: Councillors Peet (Chair), T Smith (Deputy Chair) Billington, Bowden, Buglass, P 
Fitzpatrick, S Homer, Jackson, Mills, Welsh, Wild.

Apologies for absence: Councillors Affleck, Boyle, Cooper, Gosling, Taylor.

30. MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting of the Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel held on 8 
November 2018 were approved as a correct record.

31. TAMESIDE & GLOSSOP INTEGRATED CARE NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

The Panel welcomed Trish Cavanagh, Chief Operating Officer, Tameside & Glossop 
Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust, to receive a progress and performance update.

During the past 12 months Tameside & Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust has 
worked collaboratively with the Council and CCG to design and implement initiatives to extend 
urgent care provision.  This work has contributed to managing demand across local health 
systems and the use of technology to predict demand and responsiveness of services.  

The Panel heard that if performance against the 4 hour standard for Emergency Departments 
is taken as a proxy measure for how well a system is able to respond to emergency/urgent 
demand, then Tameside and Glossop has demonstrated stronger performance across the 
period April to December 2018.

The Emergency Department has completed a number of projects during the year, by 
increasing the space available to assist with the approach to minor presentations being 
streamlined.  It is also envisaged that physical changes to the department will further assist in 
reducing ambulance handover times.  Reference was made to a recent project undertaken 
with North West Ambulance Service in managing the needs of patients within the community.

Senior leaders from a range of services meet on a weekly basis to review the length of patient 
stay and to review wider system changes needed to support effective discharge processes.  A 
performance measure looks at the number of bed days lost due to the delayed transfer of care 
(DTOC).  Significant improvements have been made when comparing year-on-year data and 
this reduction has contributed to the hospital achieving a more sustainable bed occupancy 
rate.

It was reported that the winter months are historically the most challenging, both in terms of 
hospital attendance rates and the increased levels of acute need.  Funding to support winter 
planning has been allocated to a number of schemes and the hospital plans to open an 
additional 12 beds if demand is to increase significantly over this period.

Ms Cavanagh advised members that workforce challenges remain both within the hospital and 
across the health sector nationally.  Local priorities include the use of advanced nurse 
practitioners, the retention of nurses and recruitment of doctors in the Emergency Department. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



The Panel asked if any specific challenges remain in the ability of the hospital to operation 
effectively within a more integrated model of care.

Ms Cavanagh advised that on occasion challenges are present due to the ability of systems to 
share patient information.  This isn’t yet fully integrated and can create difficulties if the 
hospital is unaware of a patient wishes for matters such as end of life care planning and the 
management of existing and long-term conditions.

Resolved: That Ms Cavanagh be thanked for attending the meeting.

32. RESPONSE TO CHILDREN’S SERVICES IMPROVEMENT

Members reviewed the Panel’s formal response letter to Children’s Services Improvement, 
which provides a summary of discussion points and concerns raised at the meeting of 8 
November 2019.  The Chair confirmed that the letter was sent to the Executive Member for 
Children and Families and the Director of Children’s Services on 20 November 2018.

33. CHILDREN’S WORKING GROUP

The Deputy Chair updated members on agreed work priorities of the Children’s Working 
Group.  It was reported that the group will receive a presentation on reading attainment across 
Tameside schools at a meeting arranged for 16 January 2019, with future attention to be 
placed on pupil attendance.

Resolved: That activity of the Children’s Working Group is routinely reported to the Scrutiny 
Panel.  

34. CHAIR’S UPDATE

The Chair provided a verbal update on future priorities for the Panel.  These include:
 Quality of Care Homes – to conclude the activity undertaken in the form of a short report 

with recommendations.
 Suicide Prevention review – the final report with completed Executive Response to be 

presented at the joint meeting of Executive Cabinet and Overview (Audit) Panel on 13 
February 2019. 

 Adult Safeguarding Annual Report – the report was circulated by email to all panel 
members for review on 10 December 2018.  Feedback to be collated and shared with the 
service.

 Monthly update emails have proved useful in raising awareness to scrutiny related 
information and consultations and engagement exercises that have potential to impact on 
the borough and residents.  Plans are in place for the update emails to continue.

35. DATE OF NEXT MEETING

To note that the next meeting of the Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel will take 
place on 14 March 2019.

36. URGENT ITEMS

The Chair reported that there were no urgent items for consideration at this meeting.
CHAIR

Page 2



 ADULT SERVICES – UPDATE ON CARERS WORK

SCRUTINY PANEL – 14 MARCH 2019

Recommendations Executive Response March 2019 Update
1 That the Council closely monitor the prevalence of 

poor health among carers assessed in Tameside, 
with specific support and/or interventions to identify 
any potential quick fixes to aid health and future 
capacity. 

Carers centre able to collect the 
health information and provide 
advice, information and 
signpost to relevant Health 
intervention but do not provide 
health interventions directly.
Conversation with PH to look at 
how we can engage and 
strengthen what is 
available/accessible.

The health needs of carers are considered as part 
of the Carers Assessment process and we still 
award a Carers Grant to enable Carers to use this 
to maintain their health and wellbeing and to 
access breaks in the community. 

Advisors provide very personalised information and 
advice to enable Carers to maintain themselves in 
a caring role or access services across all 
voluntary and statutory areas.

Neighbourhoods are working with primary care and 
the CCG in identifying carers as part of the GP 
primary care contract and primary care to make 
referrals to the carers service (with consent).

GPs to offer carers an annual health check.

As part of the neighbourhood MDTs with primary 
care and social care the health of carers is 
discussed to understand how the carer is coping in 
their role and will flag up any health issues for the 
carer. These issues are picked up in both the 
health and social care system to maintain people’s 
health and ability to care.

P
age 3

A
genda Item

 3a



2 That the Council focuses on improving awareness of 
the excellent support provided by Tameside carers, 
and the significance of their contribution to the local 
health and social care economy. 

Development work around 
increasing awareness across 
the neighbourhoods to be 
improved. 
Promote the involvement of 
Carers in the Integrated 
Neighbourhood development 
sessions to ensure carers voice 
and experience is heard and 
recognised
Annual report that reflects on 
carers contributions to be 
presented at Health and 
Wellbeing Board

One of our priorities locally, and in the GM 
Strategy, is to carers as real and expert partners. 
Consultation and engagement has taken place 
across a number of forums in the past 3 years to 
ensure that carers are contributing to local delivery 
plans and in shaping service developments across 
health and social care, including primary and 
secondary care.

Carers, via Carers Action Group, were invited to be 
part of the Neighbourhood Delivery Groups – 
across the 4 neighbourhoods. At this time this has 
not been successful, as the people who were 
invited felt that the meetings had too clinical a 
focus to contribute to.

Following the ‘retirement’ of the current Carers 
Action Group, and as part of the new strategy, we 
will be developing the Carers Champion Network – 
this is across the whole system and will provide an 
effective 2-way communication process. It will 
empower and represent all carers, including 
working carers.
 
Due to attend Health and Wellbeing Board in 
September 2019.

3 That the Council ensures that ongoing emphasis is 
placed on creating holistic support plans for both 
adult and young carers that supports the breadth of 
physical and mental health needs. 

The Council provides a holistic 
assessment/support plan for 
Adults. 

This action plan will be shared  
with Children’s Services to 
request that they review and 
ensure their assessments are 
holistic

The Council continues to provide either a joint or 
individual carers assessment and a support plan as 
required under the Care Act 2014.

As part of the GM Carers Programme, an exemplar 
model around assessment and support plan 
documentation for carers has been recommended. 
Locally a review of the assessment and care plan 
documentation is taking place.

P
age 4



Also need to link with mental 
health services to enhance the 
offer.
This is included in the revised 
Carers Strategy so will be 
implemented across the health 
and social care economy

There is a Carers Strategy action plan developed 
and being formally adopted.  This includes all the 
areas of development and encompasses work with 
Children’s services and Mental Health services, 
including secondary and primary care. 

4 That the Council and partners look to determine the 
incidence and impacts that social isolation and 
loneliness has on carers in Tameside, and possible 
earlier interventions and support mechanisms.

Responsibility in Care Act to 
prevent and delay the 
escalation in needs of carers so 
need to ensure compliance with 
this.

Prevention of social isolation is 
identified in the Carers Strategy 
and feedback from recent 
consultation events will be used 
to develop support mechanisms 
and early intervention.

As part of the Integrated 
Neighbourhood developments 
with Single Commissioning 
Team Carers Lead a plan will 
be developed with colleagues 
with particular focus on GP 
referrals to receive information 
much sooner to provide earlier 
interventions.

There needs to be a wider 
knowledge in partner agencies 
to help them identify new and 
existing long term carers to 
ensure timely interventions.

We have access to a range of staff in Adult social 
care as part of Neighbourhood model who can 
support Carers, including Dementia Support 
Workers, Action Together Social Prescribers and 
our own Wellbeing Advisors for Carers.

We are also working closely with Action Together, 
specifically with their Community Development 
workers to ensure there is asset based support to 
Carers Groups and wider groups who support 
Carers to grow their offer to carers in the public , 
As part of the GM work there is an identification of 
carers work stream, which also aims to identify 
‘hidden’ carers. 

There have been a number of events across all 
neighbourhoods that are focused on combatting 
social isolation. Where carers are identified, people 
are offered a referral to the Carers Service.

The Signpost Newsletter has been reinstated after 
a two year gap and issue 71 is available at the 
moment on the website, facebook page and in 
print. 

P
age 5



5 That the Council explores further locations and 
options to ensure carer’s assessments are carried out 
in a setting that suits the needs of the carer while 
allowing clear practical evidence to be gathered. 

There are currently 14 Carers 
Hubs plus the Carers main 
centre provided across the 
borough of Tameside. 

Analysis of where assessments 
are carried out to be 
undertaken. On-going 
monitoring to be undertaken.

Review instructions to staff to 
ensure assessments are 
undertaken at a location that 
suits the carer.

Having carried out a full review of the use of the 
Hubs and where they would be most beneficial, it 
has been agreed that we need to reconsider how 
many Hubs we can successfully support.

A further review is being undertaken to understand 
what is required is the event of the development of 
the neighbourhood model. Carers will be consulted 
on this.

6 That the Council closely monitors the number of 
telephone assessments which result in further re-
assessments to meet an originally unidentified need, 
with a view to increasing ability to meet all needs at 
the earliest opportunity. 

Monitoring of the number of 
telephone assessments that are 
undertaken will commence.

Carers are always offered the choice of a face to 
face or a telephone assessment. The same is 
offered for a review.
The number of assessments and re-assessments 
continues to be collated.

7 That avenues are explored to improve any possible 
privacy issues within the centre and also heighten 
awareness of the current location and offer of the 
Carer’s Centre within communities. 

This will be reviewed and 
confidentiality of appointments 
will be reiterated to ensure that 
the service provides privacy for 
Carers to confidentially discuss 
their needs and circumstances. 

Further awareness raising of 
the location of the Carers centre 
will be made across the 
borough

The Carers Service is due to move into Tameside 
One by June 2019. 

In the interim period it has been acknowledged that 
the venue at Hyde has not been ideal. Where 
appropriate carers have been offered a confidential 
environment to discuss their personal 
circumstances. 

Carers are currently able to have assessments in a 
variety of places and are always able to book 
private venues for their assessments. Following the 
move this level of support and choice will be 
maintained.

P
age 6



8 That the Council examines any barriers created by 
the relocation of the Carer’s Centre to inform a 
possible future decision to find a more suitable 
location earlier than first planned. 

The Carers centre will be 
returning to the town of Ashton 
once the new building is ready, 
this location provides a more 
suitable base for the centre.

Conversation with Estates for 
alternative accommodation until 
new centre opens.

During the past 2 years we have been offered 
alternative venues, with the support of the 
Executive Leader, to host the Carers Service. 
Having discussed this with CAG it was agreed that 
an additional move was not desirable and we 
would continue to deliver the service from Hyde 
until the building opened.

The Carers Service is due to move into Tameside 
One by June 2019. 

Carers known to the service were invited to a 
consultation event to ask how they would like the 
service to be developed, both in terms of how the 
new space is used, but also in terms of the offer to 
carers. Event was well attended and feedback 
given both at this event and by email where people 
unable to attend.

9 With heightened responsibilities for the assessment 
of carers, the Council closely monitors the incidence 
of respite requests from carers and the Council’s 
ongoing ability to deliver this provision if demand was 
to increase.

The Council will continue to 
closely monitor the requests 
from Carers and always offer an 
assessment of need for the 
cared for to be able to access 
different forms of respite that 
meet the eligible needs of the 
Carer and the cared for.

The Council will continue to closely monitor the 
requests from Carers and always offer an 
assessment of need for the cared for to be able to 
access different forms of respite that meet the 
eligible needs of the Carer and the cared for data 
collection around respite is currently being 
reviewed.

10 That the Council looks to build on the current Schools 
Network that has been established to ensure that 
there are support groups or trained persons within all 
schools that young carers can discuss any issues 
with. 

The Council’s young carers 
service visit schools on a 
regular basis to identify and 
offer support to young Carers. 
Opportunities will be explored to 
extend further via Children’s 
Carers services.

The Council’s young carers service continues to 
visit schools on a regular basis to identify and offer 
support to young Carers. Opportunities continue to 
be explored to extend further via Children’s Carers 
services.

P
age 7



The Young Carers Service works across Tameside 
to provide a range of provision, information and 
support to all young carers and their families. The 
key objective of the service is to coordinate a range 
of provisions and support that is accessible to 
families at the point they need it. 

There are currently 3 Young Carers Support 
Workers and the service has recruited to a Young 
Carer’s Co-ordinator post. The staff are based at 
Hattersley Children’s Centre and run sessions from 
Bennett Street in Hyde. They also offer holiday 
activity and one to one support.

Following a change in management a review of the 
service is planned to enable young carers to 
continue in their caring role by providing practical 
intervention, emotional and psychological support, 
promoting resilience and facilitating inclusion in 
their community

11 That the Council’s Adult and Children’s Services work 
with external partners to establish a more robust data 
collection and sharing system, to allow more effective 
monitoring of services and provide more seamless, 
integrated support for carers. 

Carers Strategy will put a focus 
on this.

As part of the Carers 
development work across 
Integrated Neighbourhoods and 
with the input/direction from 
Carers this will be developed.

Share recommendations with 
Childrens Services to review, 
and where appropriate, develop 
data collection and monitoring

The newly developed Carers Strategy is a multi-
agency approach to the carers agenda locally – as 
this develops there will be the opportunity, through 
the Carers Strategy Partnership to share 
performance information and have a more 
comprehensive understanding of the local system.

We have commenced a GM place based challenge 
with a focus on hard to reach carers, with partners 
from across the borough – Greater Manchester 
Police, Active Tameside, Action Together, Pennine 
Care, Childrens Services, ICFT, CCG Primary 
Care.

P
age 8



Report To: OVERVIEW (AUDIT) PANEL 

Date: 31 July 2017 

Executive Member /  

Scrutiny Panel: 

Councillor G Peet – Chair to Integrated Care and Wellbeing 
Scrutiny Panel 

Councillor Brenda Warrington, Executive Member (Adult Social 
Care & Wellbeing)  

Subject: REVIEW OF CARERS IN TAMESIDE 

Report Summary: The Chair to Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel to 
comment on the Executive Response (Appendix 1) dated 16 
March 2017 to the scrutiny review of Carers in Tameside and 
the recommendations made to support future services 
(Appendix 2) produced in November 2016. 

Recommendations: That the Overview (Audit) Panel note the recommendations 
detailed in Section 8 of Appendix 2. 

Links to Community Strategy: This review supports the Community Strategy priorities relating 
to ‘Supportive Tameside’. 

Policy Implications: The review itself has no specific policy implications.  Should 
the recommendations of this report be accepted by the 
Tameside Council’s Executive, the relevant services will need 
to assess the policy implications of putting individual 
recommendations in place. 

Financial Implications: 
(Authorised by the Section 151 
Officer) 

The Council have committed to ongoing investment of 
£1.515m in Carers Services for the financial year 2017-18.  
Adults Social Care represents £1.402m of this figure with the 
remainder of spend relating to Young Carers within Children’s 
Services. 

It is acknowledged that continued investment in Tameside’s 
carers services provides a cost effective alternative to 
procuring care from the external market. 

Legal Implications: 
(Authorised by the Borough 
Solicitor) 

The core purpose of adult care and support is to help people to 
achieve the outcomes that matter to them in their life. Local 
authorities must promote wellbeing when carrying out any of 
their care and support functions in respect of a person. This 
may sometimes be referred to as ‘the wellbeing principle’ 
because it is a guiding principle that puts wellbeing at the heart 
of care and support.   The wellbeing principle applies in all 
cases where a local authority is carrying out a care and 
support function, or making a decision, in relation to a person. 

Promoting wellbeing involves actively seeking improvements in 
the aspects of wellbeing set out above when carrying out a 
care and support function in relation to an individual at any 
stage of the process from the provision of information and 
advice to reviewing a care and support plan.  A local authority 
can promote a person’s wellbeing in many ways. How this 
happens will depend on the circumstances, including the 
person’s needs, goals and wishes, and how these impact on 
their wellbeing.  The Care Act 2014 signifies a shift from 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3b



existing duties on local authorities to provide particular 
services, to the concept of ‘meeting needs’.   This is the core 
legal entitlement for adults to care and support, establishing 
one clear and consistent set of duties and power for all people 
who need care and support.  The concept of meeting needs 
recognises that everyone’s needs are different and personal to 
them. Local authorities must consider how to meet each 
person’s specific needs rather than simply considering what 
service they will fit into. The concept of meeting needs also 
recognises that modern care and support can be provided in 
any number of ways, with new models emerging all the time, 
rather than the previous legislation which focuses primarily on 
traditional models of residential and domiciliary care.  Local 
authorities should adopt a flexible approach that allows for a 
focus on which aspects of wellbeing matter most to the 
individual concerned. 

The principle of promoting wellbeing should be embedded 
through the local authority care and support system, but how 
the local authority promotes wellbeing in practice will depend 
on the particular function being performed 

Risk Management: Reports of Scrutiny Panels are integral to processes which 
exist to hold the Executive of the authority to account 

Access to Information: The background papers relating to this report can be inspected 
by contacting Paul Radcliffe by:- 

Telephone: 0161 342 2199 

e-mail: paul.racliffe@tameside.gov.uk   

 

Page 10

mailto:paul.racliffe@tameside.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1 
Post Scrutiny - Executive Response 

 

In Respect of:  Scrutiny Review of Carers in Tameside 
Date:  16 March 2017 
Executive Member:  Councillor Brenda Warrington (Adult Social Care and Wellbeing) 
Coordinating Officer: Sandra Whitehead, Assistant Executive Director, Adult Services 
 

 

Recommendations 
Accepted/ 
Rejected 

Executive Response 
Officer 

Responsible 
Action By 

(Date) 

1. That the Council closely monitor the prevalence 
of poor health among carers assessed in 
Tameside, with specific support and/or 
interventions to identify any potential quick 
fixes to aid health and future capacity. 

 

Accepted Carers Centre able to collect the health 
information and provide advice, information and 
signpost to relevant Health intervention but do not 
provide health interventions directly. 
 
Conversation with Public Health to look at how we 
can engage and strengthen what is available and 
accessible. 
 

Julie Moore / Lina 
Patel 
 
 
 
Julie Moore / Lina 
Patel 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
June 2017 

2. That the Council focuses on improving 
awareness of the excellent support provided by 
Tameside carers, and the significance of their 
contribution to the local health and social care 
economy. 

 

Accepted Development work around increasing awareness 
across the neighbourhoods to be improved.  
 
Promote the involvement of carers in the 
Integrated Neighbourhood development sessions 
to ensure carers voice and experience is heard 
and recognised. 
 
Annual report that reflects on carers contributions 
to be presented at Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

Neighbourhood 
Managers 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sandra 
Whitehead 
 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Annually 

P
age 11



Recommendations 
Accepted/ 
Rejected 

Executive Response 
Officer 

Responsible 
Action By 

(Date) 

3. That the Council ensures that ongoing 
emphasis is placed on creating holistic support 
plans for both adult and young carers that 
supports the breadth of physical and mental 
health needs. 

 

Accepted The Council provides a holistic 
assessment/support plan for Adults.  
 
This action plan will be shared with Children’s 
Services to request that they review and ensure 
their assessments are holistic. 
 
Also need to link with mental health services to 
enhance the offer. 
 
This is included in the revised Carers Strategy so 
will be implemented across the health and social 
care economy. 
 

Julie Moore / Lina 
Patel 
 
Sandra 
Whitehead/ 
Sheena Wooding 
 
Vicki Gee 
 
 
Carers Strategy 
Group 

Ongoing 
 
 
April 2017 
 
 
 
April 2017 
 
 
Ongoing 

P
age 12



Recommendations 
Accepted/ 
Rejected 

Executive Response 
Officer 

Responsible 
Action By 

(Date) 

4. That the Council and partners look to 
determine the incidence and impacts that social 
isolation and loneliness has on carers in 
Tameside, and possible earlier interventions 
and support mechanisms. 

 

Accepted Responsibility in Care Act to prevent and delay 
the escalation in needs of carers so need to 
ensure compliance with this. 
 
 
Prevention of social isolation is identified in the 
Carers Strategy and feedback from recent 
consultation events will be used to develop 
support mechanisms and early intervention.  
There also needs to be a wider knowledge in 
partner agencies to help them identify new and 
existing long term carers to ensure timely 
interventions. 
 
As part of the Integrated Neighbourhood 
developments with Single Commissioning Team 
Carers Lead a plan will be developed with 
colleagues with particular focus on GP referrals to 
receive information much sooner to provide 
earlier interventions 
 

Carers Strategy 
Group and Adult 
Management 
Team 
 
Carers Strategy 
Group 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Neighbourhood 
Managers / 
Primary Care 
Commissioner 

Immediate 
and 
ongoing 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
October 
2017 

5. That the Council explores further locations and 
options to ensure carer’s assessments are 
carried out in a setting that suits the needs of 
the carer while allowing clear practical 
evidence to be gathered. 

 

Accepted There are currently 14 Carers Hubs plus the 
carers main centre provided across the borough.  
Analysis and monitoring of where assessments 
are carried out will be undertaken. 
 
Review instructions to staff to ensure 
assessments are undertaken at a location that 
suits the carer. 

Julie Moore / Lina 
Patel  

October 
2017 

P
age 13



Recommendations 
Accepted/ 
Rejected 

Executive Response 
Officer 

Responsible 
Action By 

(Date) 

6. That the Council closely monitors the number 
of telephone assessments which result in 
further re-assessments to meet an originally 
unidentified need, with a view to increasing 
ability to meet all needs at the earliest 
opportunity. 

 

Accepted Monitoring of the number of telephone 
assessments that are undertaken will commence. 
 

Lina Patel April 2017 

7. That avenues are explored to improve any 
possible privacy issues within the centre and 
also heighten awareness of the current location 
and offer of the Carer’s Centre within 
communities. 

 

Accepted This will be reviewed and confidentiality of 
appointments will be reiterated to ensure that the 
service provides privacy for carers to 
confidentially discuss their needs and 
circumstances.  
 
Further awareness raising of the location of the 
Carers Centre will be made across the borough. 
 

Lina Patel / Julie 
Moore 
 
 

April 2017 
 
 

8. That the Council examines any barriers created 
by the relocation of the Carer’s Centre to inform 
a possible future decision to find a more 
suitable location earlier than first planned. 

 
 

Accepted The Carers Centre will be returning to the town of 
Ashton once the new building is ready, this 
location provides a more suitable base for the 
centre. 
 
Conversation with Estates for alternative 
accommodation until new centre opens. 
 

Sandra 
Whitehead 

April 2017 

9. With heightened responsibilities for the 
assessment of carers, the Council closely 
monitors the incidence of respite requests from 
carers and the Council’s ongoing ability to 
deliver this provision if demand was to 
increase. 

 

Accepted The Council will continue to closely monitor the 
requests from carers and always offer an 
assessment of need for the cared for to be able to 
access different forms of respite that meet the 
eligible needs of the carer and the cared for. 

Neighbourhood 
Managers 

Ongoing 

P
age 14



Recommendations 
Accepted/ 
Rejected 

Executive Response 
Officer 

Responsible 
Action By 

(Date) 

10. That the Council looks to build on the current 
Schools Network that has been established to 
ensure that there are support groups or trained 
persons within all schools that young carers 
can discuss any issues with. 

 

Accepted The Council’s young carers service visit schools 
on a regular basis to identify and offer support to 
young carers. Opportunities will be explored to 
extend further via Children’s Carers services. 

Bob Berry / 
Caroline Brierley 

October 
2017 

11. That the Council’s Adult and Children’s 
Services work with external partners to 
establish a more robust data collection and 
sharing system, to allow more effective 
monitoring of services and provide more 
seamless, integrated support for carers. 

 

Accepted The Carers Strategy will put a focus on this. 
 
 
As part of the carers development work across 
Integrated Neighbourhoods and with the 
input/direction from Carers this will be developed. 
 
Share recommendations with Children’s Services 
to review, and where appropriate, develop data 
collection and monitoring. 
 

Carers Strategy 
Group 
 
Neighbourhood 
Managers 
 
 
Sheena Wooding 
/ Sandra 
Whitehead 

Ongoing 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
July 2017 P

age 15



APPENDIX 2 
 
1. INTRODUCTION BY THE CHAIR OF THE INTEGRATED CARE AND WELLBEING 

SCRUTINY PANEL 
 
1.1 I am pleased to present this report of a review undertaken by the Integrated Care and 

Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel into Carers in Tameside between July and November 2016. 
 
1.2 The importance of unpaid care in the UK has become increasingly apparent as pressure on 

resources has continued to restrict the ability of local authorities to support as wide a range 
of services.  The value of unpaid care in the UK is estimated to be £132 billion, which is 
almost equivalent to the total NHS spend. 

 
1.3 At the time that the 2011 Census was carried out, 24,059 people in Tameside identified 

themselves as providing unpaid care.  The total across England and Wales at the same 
time was 5,800,246 people, which is an increase of over 600,000 since the previous 
Census.  This rate of increase is faster than the population growth in the two countries over 
the same time period. 

 
1.4 Longer life expectancies and improved health and social care for people of all ages is 

resulting in a growing need for unpaid care.  With people living longer, they are more likely 
to develop one or more health conditions that require them to be cared for during their 
lifetime. 

 
1.5 The State of Caring Report 2016 by Carers UK estimates that 20% of people providing 50 

or more hours of care each week receive no practical support with their caring role.  It also 
reveals that some carers have had to wait up to 6 months to begin receiving the support 
services agreed within their carer’s assessment. 

 
1.6 The Panel were aware of the vital role that carers have in ensuring the wellbeing of our 

population and as such, were driven to take an in-depth look at how carers in Tameside are 
being supported to fulfil their caring duties, and enjoy living their own lives at the same time. 

 
1.7 On behalf of the Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel, I would like to thank all 

those who have participated in this review.   
 

Councillor Gillian Peet 
Chair of the Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel 

 
 
2. BACKGROUND TO THE REVIEW 
 
2.1 The Care Act (2014) and Children and Families Act (2014) were both implemented to 

strengthen the levels of support provided to carers in the UK.  The former is the most recent 
law and set out the care and support that carers can receive, while the latter is a new law 
for parents and carers of children and young people (aged 0-25 years) with special 
educational needs or disabilities. 

 
2.2 The State of Caring Report 2016 reports that over half (54%) of carers across the country 

believe that their quality of life will worsen over the course of 2016, despite there being 
more comprehensive legislative support in place, and an increased emphasis from local 
authorities on improving support services for carers. 

 
 
 
 

Page 16



3. MEMBERSHIP OF THE PANEL – 2016/17 
 
 Councillor Peet (Chair), Councillor Cartey (Deputy Chair). 

Councillors Affleck, Ballagher, Bailey, Bowden, Buglass, Cooper, P Fitzpatrick, Fowler, 
Kinsey, Middleton, Patrick, Ryan, T Smith, Sweeton, R Welsh, Whitehead, Wild. 

 
 
4. TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
 Aim of the Review 
4.1 To ensure that the Council is able to meet obligations to support carers of all ages in 

Tameside as a vital asset to improve health and social care outcomes. 
 

Objectives 
4.2 1. To understand the statutory duties of the Council and partners to support and help 

carers. 
2. To review the range of roles a carer can undertake and the importance of caregiving to 
the local health economy. 
3. To examine the range and effectiveness of support services that are available to carers 
of all ages. 
4. To examine changes to the Care Act (2014) and the impact on the Council to deliver the 
required levels of support. 
5. To review the responsibility of the Council to ensure the physical, social and health 
needs of carers is being taken into account. 
6.  To determine how holistic, partnership work can improve the amount and quality of 
support that can be provided to carers. 
7. To produce workable recommendations that will help to provide more effective support 
for carers, and care support plans in Tameside. 

   
Value for Money/Use of Resources 

4.3 It is important that people receiving and providing care in Tameside are given a supportive 
network and environment that leads to improved outcomes for all residents.  It is essential 
that the Council and partners work collaboratively to establish effective strategies that will 
recognise the factors affecting and/or limiting carers and improve the level of support they 
can provide. 

 
Equalities Issues 

4.4 People of all backgrounds and from all sections of Tameside’s communities can become 
carers by personal choice or through circumstance.  The review will consider strategies that 
lead to safe and positive environments for carers of all ages and backgrounds. 

 
People and Place Scorecard 

4.5 The following targets from the People and Place Scorecard relate to the Carers in 
Tameside review. 

 

Vulnerable Adults  Helped to live at home 

 
 
5. METHODOLOGY 
 
5.1 To meet with Sandra Whitehead, Assistant Executive Director (Adult’s Services); Julie 

Moore, Service Unit Manager (Assessment and Care Management); and Lina Patel, 
Assistant Team Manager (Assessment and Care Management with lead responsibility for 
Carers and the Carers Centre), to receive an overview of the Council’s role in supporting 
caregivers and detailed information on the different support mechanisms that the Council 
has put in place to help adult carers. 

 

Page 17



5.2 To meet with Sheena Wooding, Head of the Integrated Service for Children with Additional 
Needs, to receive information on young carers and the Young Carers Service in Tameside, 
the common issues impacting them and what support networks are in place to support their 
needs. 

 
5.3 To visit Tameside Carers Centre to understand the different support needs that carers 

present, and gain first-hand experience of the assessment and eligibility process and how 
support services can meet the range of carers needs. 

 
5.4 To meet with Tameside Carers Action Group, to understand the role it has in supporting 

and helping current and ex-carers, as well as gain first-hand information on the experiences 
of carers. 

 
5.5 To meet with Carole Hague, a current carer living and providing care in Tameside, to hear 

first-hand experiences of what it is like to be a carer and access support services and how 
legislative and local authority support has helped her to continue providing care. 

 
 
6.  REVIEW FINDINGS 
 
 Local Context 
6.1 Providing care can be one of the most rewarding and gratifying jobs a person can do.  

Although all carers will have different experiences of caring, both positive and negative, 
providing care to another person can forge strong emotional bonds of friendship and 
arguably provides a far stronger sense of reward than any other job. 

 
6.2 The importance of carers should not be underestimated.  Not only do they help to look after 

and care for those in our communities who are most in need, they also save the national 
health and social care economy an estimated £132 billion each year.  Many carers often 
have to make financial, emotional or career sacrifices when deciding to be a caregiver. 

 
6.3 Data from the 2011 Census showed that a total of 24,059 people identified themselves as 

providing unpaid care in Tameside.  This number equates to roughly 11% of the borough’s 
total population, which is slightly higher than the 10.6% average for Greater Manchester.  
The Tameside Poverty Strategy 2014-17 states that this figure is likely to be an 
underestimate of the true number of people providing care in the borough. 

 
6.4 Carers UK estimate that the number of carers in the UK will rise by 40% by 2037, bringing 

the carers population in the UK to over 9 million.  Every year over 2.1 million adults become 
carers, with a significant number finding that their caring responsibilities come to an end.  
This turnover rate means that caring will touch the lives of a significant proportion of the 
population. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



Figure 1. The Breakdown of Care Provided in Tameside 

Age 

Number of 
people 
providing 
unpaid 
care 

Proportion 
of people 
providing 
unpaid 
care of 
total 
population  

Number of 
people 
providing 1 
to 19 hours 
of unpaid 
care a 
week 

Number of 
people 
providing 
20 to 49 
hours 
unpaid 
care a 
week 

Number of 
people 
providing 50 
or more 
hours 
unpaid care 
a week 

Total 24,059 11.1% 
14,106 
(58.6%) 

3,594 
(14.9%) 

6,359  
(26.4%) 

Age 0 to 15 587 0.3% 
454  
(77.3%) 

75  
(12.8%) 

58    
(9.9%) 

Age 16 to 24 1,547 0.7% 
1,051  
(68.0%) 

288  
(18.6%) 

208  
(13.5%) 

Age 25 to 34 2,452 1.1% 
1,527 
(62.3%)  

381  
(15.5%) 

544  
(22.2%) 

Age 35 to 49 6,757 3.1% 
4,219 
(62.4%) 

1,030 
(15.2%) 

1,508  
(22.3%) 

Age 50 to 64 8,080 3.7% 
5,084 
(63.0%) 

1,167 
(14.4%) 

1,829  
(22.6%) 

Age 65 and 
over 

4,636 2.1% 
1,771 
(38.2%) 

653  
(14.1%) 

2,212  
(47.7%) 

 
6.5 The table above shows the complete breakdown of the number of carers in Tameside that 

were identified in the 2011 Census, and the amount of care provided by different age 
groups.  Some of the key findings include: 

 The majority (58.6%) of carers active in Tameside provide 1 to 19 hours of care per 
week. 

 A higher proportion of people aged 25 and over provide 50 or more hours of unpaid 
care per week. 

 Older carers comprise over half (52.9%) of the unpaid carers in Tameside and 
approximately a third (31.8%) of these older carers are providing 50 or more hours of 
care per week. 

 A total of 9.9% of carers aged 15 and under provide 50 or more hours of unpaid care.  
This is a significant proportion of children in the borough who are predisposed to a 
greater risk of the impacts of being a carer. 

 
6.6 As at November 2016, the number of young carers registered with the Tameside Young 

Carers service is 374.  The majority of these children (251) are aged 11-16, while 77 are 
aged 17-18, and 46 are aged 7-10. 

 
Figure 2. The Health of Carers in Tameside 

Carer 

All 
categories: 
General 
health 

Very 
good or 
good 
health 

Fair 
health 

Bad or 
very 
bad 
health 

Provides unpaid care: Total 24,052 
16,583 
(69.0%) 

5,493 
(22.8%) 

1,976 
(8.2%) 

Provides 1 to 19 hours unpaid care a 
week 

14,100 
10,886 
(77.2%) 

2,553 
(18.1%) 

661 
(5.7%) 

Provides 20 to 49 hours unpaid care a 
week 

3,594 
2,334 
(64.9%) 

936 
(26.0%) 

324 
(9.1%) 

Provides 50 or more hours unpaid care 
a week 

6,358 
3,363 
(52.9%) 

2,004 
(31.5%) 

991 
(15.6%) 

 

Page 19



6.7 The table above contains data on the health of carers collected in the 2011 Census.  The 
majority of carers (69%) in Tameside reported having very good or good health, while 8.2% 
reported having bad or very bad health.  In comparison, 72.5% of carers in England and 
Wales reported to having good or very good health, and 6.7% reported to having bad or 
very bad health. 

 
6.8 Figure 2 also shows that the proportion of people in Tameside experiencing poorer health 

increases with the number of hours of unpaid care provided per week.  According to Carers 
UK, people providing 50 or more hours of care each week are twice as likely to be in bad or 
very bad health as a person without any caring responsibilities. 

 
6.9 This is also in line with national figures collected in the GP Patient Survey (2013), which 

found that 51% of non-carers have a long-standing health condition, compared to 60% of all 
carers and 70% of carers providing 50 or more hours of care a week. 

 
6.10 Furthermore, the Personal Social Services Survey of Adult Carers in England 2014-15, 

reports that over a third of carers (38%) provide over 100 hours of care each week, putting 
them at a far higher risk of experiencing poor mental and physical health than the average 
carer and non-carer. 

 
6.11 Roles and Responsibilities – Carers can have a number of different roles that they carry 

out depending on the needs of the person they are looking after.  The State of Caring 
Report 2014 by Carers UK surveyed the range of roles provided by carers: 

 93% provide practical help (e.g. preparing meals, doing laundry or shopping). 

 87% provide emotional support and motivation, and keep an eye on someone either in 
person or over the phone. 

 85% arrange and coordinate care services or medical appointments. 

 83% manage paperwork for financial matters for the person they care for. 

 71% provide personal care (e.g. help with washing, dressing, eating or using the toilet). 

 57% help the cared for with their mobility (e.g. getting in and out of bed, moving around 
the house or going outside). 

 
Figure 3. The Relationships of Carers to the People they Care For 

 
 

Page 20



6.12 The graph above shows the different relationships that carers in the UK have with the 
person they support for the greatest number of hours.  The data, collected in the NHS 
Information Centre for Health and Social Care Survey of Carers in Households 2009/10, 
showed that people are most likely to be looking after a close family member. 

 
6.13 The same report also found that 83% of carers in the UK provide care for one person, 14% 

look after two people and 3% look after three or more people.  Caring for more than one 
person is a lot of responsibility and work, and can come with considerable consequences to 
the health and wellbeing of the caregiver. 

 

Conclusions 
1. A significant number of Tameside adults and children are providing unpaid care within the 

community. 
 
2. Tameside has a higher proportion of carers reporting to be in bad or very bad health (8.2%) 

than the rest of England and Wales (6.7%). 

 

Recommendations 
1. That the Council closely monitor the prevalence of poor health among carers assessed in 

Tameside, with specific support and/or interventions to identify any potential quick fixes to 
aid health and future capacity. 

 
Impacts of Being a Carer 

6.14 Caring is a very challenging role to undertake and can require a lot of strength and 
resilience.  It can be emotionally and physically demanding, often making it difficult to make 
ends meet.  Carers commonly report that they see their own health and wellbeing suffer, 
have a considerably lower income, and have difficulty staying in touch with friends and 
family, as a direct result of their caring roles. 

 
6.15 Carers of different ages can be impacted in different ways.  Older carers, for example, are 

more likely to see their physical health suffer as a result of lifting and carrying heavy 
equipment, while younger carers can see their academic and social development suffer by 
having to miss time at school. 

 
6.16 Health and Wellbeing – A significant piece of multi-agency research was undertaken as 

part of the 2012 In Sickness and in Health report by Carers UK.  Approximately 3,400 
carers were surveyed, with 87% stating that their mental health has been negatively 
impacted by caring. 

 
6.17 Specific data was collected on the different ways in which the surveyed carers have been 

impacted as a result of being a carer: 

 91% had dealt with anxiety and/or stress. 

 53% reported depression. 

 36% had sustained physical injuries/strains (e.g. back pain). 

 26% found pre-existing conditions significantly worsened. 

 22% suffered with high blood pressure. 
 
6.18 There are known risks and impacts associated with caring, in particular being able to 

maintain a good standard of health.  Whilst dealing with the strain of lifting and moving 
people/equipment as well as the stress of providing around-the-clock care, it can be difficult 
for carers to find the time to exercise, get enough sleep, or prepare healthy and nutritious 
meals. 

 
6.19 The report also found that a lot of carers do not have the time to attend medical 

appointments, see friends/family or simply relax.  The survey found that 39% of carers have 
put off medical treatment because of caring, which as a result: 

 53% suffered for an extended period of time. 

Page 21



 49% have said their problem(s) worsened. 

 26% found it harder or impossible to continue undertaking their caring responsibilities. 

 22% developed additional illnesses. 
 
6.20 MIND, a mental health charity, states that the challenges carers face can make them feel 

frustrated, low or depressed.  Suffering with any, or a combination of depression, anxiety 
and stress can be extremely difficult to deal with, even without the responsibility of being a 
carer.  If not supported properly, people can become too unwell to continue providing care. 

 
6.21 Financial Insecurity – Caring can restrict a person’s capacity to work.  The State of Caring 

Report 2016 finds that of people providing full-time care, approximately 49% leave work 
and 23% reduce their hours of employment. 

 
6.22 The same study reports that 44% of all carers experience financial difficulties, a figure 

which rises to 48% when providing care for 35 or more hours per week.  In addition, more 
than a quarter of carers (26%) have been, or are currently in debt as a direct result of them 
being a carer.  Almost three quarters (73%) of carers struggle to make ends meet and say 
that the regular worry about finances is having an adverse impact on their health. 

 
6.23 Feedback from carers showed that the following support would help with their employment. 

 More support from care workers coming to the home of the person they care for (54%) 

 Support with managing or coordinating care (34%) 
 
6.24 Social Isolation – Carers of all ages can become socially isolated; this is a significant 

contributor and identifier for poor mental and physical health and wellbeing.  Due to the time 
commitment associated with caring, carers may not have the time to talk to or see friends or 
family, unless it is arranged as a form of respite. 

 
6.25 The importance of social interaction is emphasised as a crucial component of maintaining 

happiness and health for all people, not just carers.  Independent research studies 
undertaken by several research groups have found that loneliness and social isolation can: 

 Put individuals at a greater risk of cognitive decline 

 Increase the chances of depression 

 Increase the chances of suicide in older age 

 Increase the risk of high blood pressure, coronary heart disease and stroke. 
 

Conclusions 
3. It can be common for carers to unintentionally neglect their own personal, social and 

emotional wellbeing as a result of caring. 
 

4. Carers are at an increased risk of feeling lonely and becoming socially isolated.  

 

Recommendations 
2. That the Council focuses on improving awareness of the excellent support provided by 

Tameside carers, and the significance of their contribution to the local health and social 
care economy. 

 
3. That the Council ensures that ongoing emphasis is placed on creating holistic support plans 

for both adult and young carers that supports the breadth of physical and mental health 
needs. 

 
4. That the Council and partners look to determine the incidence and impacts that social 

isolation and loneliness has on carers in Tameside, and possible earlier interventions and 
support mechanisms. 

 
 

Page 22



Assessments and Eligibility Criteria 
6.26 The Care Act (2014), which was implemented in April 2015, entitles all carers to receive a 

carer’s assessment from their local authority, irrespective of the number of hours of care 
they provide, their income levels or the level of support they require.  This has remained 
constant despite amendments and additions being made to the legislation in 2015 and 
2016.   

 
6.27 Assessments are carried out in an environment that is appropriate and suitable to the 

needs of the carer and can be done in person or over the phone.  If caring responsibilities 
are shared between two or more people then each individual is still entitled to their own 
assessment. 

 
6.28 A carer’s assessment provides carers with an opportunity to discuss their caring roles and 

responsibilities and highlight the support they feel they need to fulfil these responsibilities 
whilst managing their own personal lives.   

 
6.29 The working group received information from a carer which highlighted the importance to 

ensure initial assessments are comprehensive and able to identify all areas of support.  
Concerns were raised that while telephone assessments are convenient for some, they do 
not provide an opportunity to gain full evidence and understanding of a carer’s individual 
circumstances.  This may lead to further resources and time spent undertaking re-
assessment to address a missed or unidentified need.  This was also supported by further 
anecdotal evidence gathered by the working group during a meeting with the Carers Action 
Group. 

 
6.30 Carers can be referred for an assessment in a number of ways, including the Carers 

Centre, Social Workers and GPs.  Carer’s assessments can be carried out jointly with other 
services such as the NHS to ensure that all aspects of a carer’s needs are being discussed 
and all professionals involved in a person’s care are cooperating about decisions being 
made. 

 
6.31 National Eligibility Criteria – When carrying out carer’s assessments, local authorities are 

responsible for determining whether or not a carer’s needs meet the National Eligibility 
Criteria as set out in the Care Act (2014).  The threshold is based on the impact that caring 
has on a carer’s wellbeing. 

 
6.32 Local authorities must deliberate the following three considerations when determining if a 

carer has eligible needs: 

 Whether the carer has needs due to a physical or mental impairment or illness. 

 Whether the specific needs of the carer result in the carer being unable to achieve two 
or more outcomes outlined in their carer’s assessment. 

 Whether there is, or is likely to be, a significant impact on the carer’s wellbeing as a 
consequence of their caring responsibilities and being unable to achieve these 
outcomes. 

 
6.33 An adult’s needs are only eligible where they meet all three of the above conditions.  The 

support that a carer can receive ranges from signposting and advice, to adult social care 
funded support.  The type of support that is available to carers is also dependent on 
whether the person or people they are looking after have eligible needs.   

 
6.34 Council-commissioned respite, for example, is provided to people being looked after and 

not the carer, meaning that the amount and type of respite provision is based on whether 
the cared-for person meets the eligibility threshold and what their specific support needs 
entail. 

 
6.35  Where a person being cared for meets eligibility criteria, an assessment/reassessment of 

the carer’s needs will take place and a support plan will be put in place.  Annual 

Page 23



reassessments are carried out to ensure that the carer is receiving all support necessary to 
their needs. 

 
6.36 When a person being cared for does not meet the eligibility threshold for funded support, an 

information pack is forwarded to their carer that includes key advice and information about 
where and how they can access other services.  A carer’s assessment is also completed to 
determine if the carer has any specific support needs.  

 
6.37 If a carer has eligible needs but the person they look after does not, the carer may be 

entitled to some form of financial support (see Sections 6.51 – 6.52), as well as a review of 
their support needs and a full reassessment of their support plan and eligibility at 12 
months.  If a carer and the cared for has a change of circumstances they can request an 
assessment at any time. 

 

Conclusions 
5. Since April 2015, the Council has had a statutory responsibility to ensure that all identified 

carers receive an assessment to identify specific support needs and whether they meet 
eligibility criteria. 

 

Recommendations 
5. That the Council explores further locations and options to ensure carer’s assessments are 

carried out in a setting that suits the needs of the carer while allowing clear practical 
evidence to be gathered. 

 
6. That the Council closely monitors the number of telephone assessments which result in 

further re-assessments to meet an originally unidentified need, with a view to increasing 
ability to meet all needs at the earliest opportunity. 

 
Support for Carers 

6.38 As previously mentioned, all carers are entitled to some form of support, whether this be 
free advice and information or access to Council-funded services.  There are a number of 
different financial supports available to carers, including Direct Payments and Carer’s 
Allowance. 

 
6.39 Carers Centre – The Carers Centre in Tameside provides a daily drop-in facility Monday 

through Friday (11am – 2pm).  This is a valuable service for carers, offering them a place to 
talk to advisors, arrange or complete a carer’s assessment and access the information and 
advice library. 

 
6.40 Prior to the redevelopment of the Council offices in Ashton, the Carers Centre was situated 

in Ashton town centre.  When situated in this longstanding location, the service was a 
widely utilised resource with high levels of footfall year-round. 

 
6.41 The Carers Centre has been temporarily moved to Hyde Town Hall while the new Council 

office development takes place.  Data shows that the number of carers, professionals and 
members of the public visiting the service fell from 69 per month when in Ashton, to 42 per 
month in Hyde.  A visit to the current Carers Centre did identify some possible issues with 
privacy for carers when discussing general circumstances and during assessment. 

 
6.42 It is currently planned for the Carers Centre to be relocated back to Ashton town centre 

following the completion the new Council office development.  There is no fixed date for this 
and it is hoped that this will improve accessibility to the service and raise the numbers of 
carers accessing the advice and support. 

 
6.43 Carer’s Allowance – This benefit is specifically for carers and is worth up to £62.10 per 

week depending on whether the carer meets the following eligibility criteria: 

 Aged 16 or over. 

Page 24



 Caring for someone for at least 35 hours each week. 

 Are caring for someone who gets a qualifying disability benefit (including the middle or 
higher rate of the care component of Disability Living Allowance, the daily living 
component of Personal Independence Payment, Attendance Allowance, or Armed 
Forces Independence Payment). 

 Earning £110 a week (after deductions) or less. 

 Not in full-time education. 

 In possession of satisfactory UK presence and residence conditions. 
 
6.44 There is an overlapping benefits rule in place that means that a carer’s entitlement to 

Carer’s Allowance can be impacted if they are in receipt of other benefits, including 
Jobseeker’s Allowance and Employment and Support Allowance.  If a carer cannot receive 
Carer’s Allowance due to the overlapping benefits rule, they can apply for an underlying 
benefit entitlement, provided that they meet all eligibility criteria.   

 
6.45 Personal Budget – Under the Care Act (2014), there is now a duty upon local authorities to 

produce and commission a care and support plan that offers a Personal Budget to the 
cared for who meet the National Eligibility Criteria. 

 
6.46 A Personal Budget is an agreed amount of money that is allocated to provide care and 

support to meet the eligible needs of the cared for, the carer will contribute to the 
management to ensure personalised care and support for the cared for and the carer.  It is 
a statement of the total amount of money needed to meet a carer’s eligible social care 
needs and can be used to plan short stays or respite for the cared for person from 
providers. 

 
6.47 Direct Payments – If a carer, or the person they are looking after, is assessed by a local 

authority as needing support and they meet National Eligibility Criteria, then they have a 
right to ask for a Direct Payment to be made to them to allow the carer to directly arrange 
any services for themselves instead of having the local authority arrange them on their 
behalf.   

 
6.48 Direct Payments can be worth up to the value of 5 hours of support per week and can be 

used to help carers meet their assessed needs and desired outcomes detailed within their 
support plan.  Payments are made directly to the carer or cared-for person and can be used 
flexibly. 

 
6.49 Direct Payments are not counted as a contributing form of income, meaning that it does not 

affect a carer’s entitlement to other benefits that they may be in receipt of.  However, any 
person who is in receipt of a Direct Payment must keep a record of how they are spent and 
submit this to the local authority.   

 
6.50 Part-Direct Payments – These are one off annual payments to eligible carers whose 

cared-for person does not meet National Eligibility Criteria, or whose cared-for have chosen 
not to request an assessment for themselves. 

 
6.51 A Part-Direct Payment can be up to the maximum of £240.00, depending on the carer’s 

circumstances and support needs.  Just as with Direct Payments, carers can use these 
payments to help them achieve the desired outcomes agreed within their support plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



 
Figure 4. The Number of Carers Eligible for Funded Support in Tameside 

  

April 2015 –  
March 2016 

 
April 2016 –  

September 2016 
 

 

18-64 65-84  85+  18-64 65-84  85+ Unknown 

Direct Payment 33 18 3 
 

11 4 0 9 

Part-Direct Payment 583 255 13 
 

216 96 2 13 

Councils with Adult 
Social Service 
Responsibility 
(CASSR) Managed 
Personal Budget 

120 72 8 

 

40 37 4 45 

CASSR Commissioned 
Support 

70 37 1 
 

1 0 0 0 

Information, Advice, 
Signposting and Other 
Universal Services 

251 139 12 
 

 99 66 9 108 

 
6.52 The table above shows the number of adult carers that were deemed eligible for funded 

support following a carer’s assessment or reassessment undertaken between April 2015 
and September 2016.  The total number of eligible carers in 2015/16 was 1,615, and 717 in 
2016/17 to date.   

 
6.53 Prior to November 2016, local authorities were not required to collect data on the ages of 

carers accessing services, which is the reason for the incomplete dataset in Figure 4.  Any 
unknown information is prorated at the end of the municipal year. 

 
6.54 So far in 2016/17, a total of 11 carers received no direct support despite being eligible for 

funded services.  The most common reason for this is that carers do not wish to receive 
support for being a carer as they are already in receipt of support for other reasons.  It can 
also be because the cared for person receives some form(s) of support that assists the 
carer, without the carer receiving any support directly. 

 
 Figure 5.  The Breakdown of Investment on Carers Support in 2016/17 

Investment Support Provided 

£907,766 (TMBC) 
This funds any unplanned/emergency respite for all adults 
who meet National Eligibility Criteria (excluding learning 
disabilities). 

£343,000 (Better Care Fund) 
Part-direct payments and carers grants for carers caring 
for individuals below National Eligibility Criteria. 

£186,323 (TMBC) 
To provide planned respite for all adults who meet 
National Eligibility Criteria (excluding learning disabilities). 

£60,000 (TMBC) 
This helps to provide direct payments for carers caring for 
individuals that meet National Eligibility Criteria, as well as 
respite for elderly carers and alternate respite provisions. 

£6,500 (Better Care Fund) 
To provide information to carers via a newsletter and 
leaflets. 

£500 (Better Care Fund) 
To provide expenses to carers for attendance and 
engagement as part of the Carers Strategy Group. 

 

Page 26



6.55 The table above shows the amount and source of the funding for carers support services in 
Tameside for 2016/17, the vast majority of which is used to provide planned and 
emergency respite.  The total investment as part of the Better Care Fund is approximately 
£350,000. 

 

Conclusions 
6. The change of location for the Carer’s Centre has resulted in a significantly reduced 

number of visitors and residents receiving advice and support. 

 

Recommendations 
7. That avenues are explored to improve any possible privacy issues within the centre and 

also heighten awareness of the current location and offer of the Carer’s Centre within 
communities. 

 
8. That the Council examines any barriers created by the relocation of the Carer’s Centre to 

inform a possible future decision to find a more suitable location earlier than first planned. 

 
Respite 

6.56 Taking a break and having time to rest and recuperate is vital to a carer’s wellbeing and 
quality of life and vital to ensuring that the family relationship between the carer and cared 
for is maintained.  Respite is an incredibly important provision that provides carers with time 
away from their caring duties and/or settings, allowing them to take a break, enjoy a hobby 
or spend time with friends and family.  

 
6.57 Planned respite/short stay is provided if it is determined from an individuals’ and carers        

assessment that they have eligible care and support needs that can only be met by the 
provision of planned respite/short stay.  Eligibility is determined from the Care Act 2014 
National Minimum Eligibility criteria.  By meeting identified needs with planned respite/short 
stay provision this can contribute towards preventing the breakdown of the family situation 
by enabling carers to have regular breaks from their caring role, thus enabling individuals to 
remain living in the family home.  

 
6.58 Unplanned respite/short stay is provided to eligible individuals who are in a situation of 

crisis where they cannot safely manage at home at that immediate time.  There could be a 
number of reasons for this including carer stress or carer breakdown.  Following 
assessment a period of unplanned respite/short stay may be provided as a short term 
intervention.  Before a decision is made for an individual to access unplanned respite/ short 
stay an assessment of the individuals’ and carers needs will take place via the Integrated 
Urgent Care Team. 

 
6.59 Respite is technically provided to the person being cared for (also referred to as the service 

user).  Therefore, the amount of respite they are entitled to is based on whether the needs 
of the cared-for person meet the National Eligibility Criteria.  When determining the amount 
of allocated planned respite the needs and overall circumstances of the cared for and the 
carer are fully considered.  The aim is to ensure there is not a breakdown of the family unit 
and relationships resulting in unplanned emergency respite or the separation of the cared 
for and the carer longer term. 

 
6.60 There is a planned respite criteria with a maximum allocation of 21 nights, where there 

maybe exceptional circumstances then additional nights will be allocated.  This number has 
reduced over recent years, as it was previously unlimited and impacted on equity of 
outcomes for new people, with any existing arrangements meaning some people had a very 
high number of nights.  If no other means of support are available to meet the need, and 
criteria is met, respite will be offered.  

 
 
 

Page 27



Figure 6.  The Number of Service Users Receiving Planned Respite in Tameside 

Age Group  
(of Carer) 2015/16 

2016/17  
(as at September 2016) 

18-64 60 53 

64-85 37 42 

85 and Over 5 4 

Unknown N/A 54 

 
6.61 The table above shows the number of people being cared for who receive Council-

commissioned respite support in Tameside.  In 2015/16, 102 people received funded 
respite, while 153 have already been assessed and eligible and receiving respite in 
2016/17 to date. 

 
6.62 In 2015/16 there were 84 individuals in receipt of planned respite, equating to a total of 

2619 nights of respite.  During 2015/16 there was also a total of 232 individuals in receipt of 
unplanned respite, equating to a total of 12,968 nights, 107 of these individuals met the 
criteria for permanent residential care, the remaining individuals returned home with some 
receiving ongoing planned respite. 

 
6.63 Respite is not provided to young carers in the same way that it is to adult carers.  The 

Young Carers Service helps to give young carers a break from their caring roles through 
organised trips, holidays, or individual/group activities (see Section 6.74). 
 
Figure 7. Respite Services in Tameside 

Respite Service Type of Support Provided 

Active Tameside Provides a day service offering swimming, dance, drama, sports and 
gym activities.  It is available for spot purchasing. 

Age UK 
(Tameside) 

A day service for older men that is available for spot purchasing.  The 
service is based on Age UK’s national success with “Shed” projects, 
which is the concept of a group of men helping each other through 
general discussions about the issues facing them in relation to their 
health, emotional wellbeing or practical issues troubling them in their 
everyday lives. 

Creative Support A specialist day service for people with dementia.  It has 20 places 
(building-based) and 8 places (community-based) available each day.  
The service aims to provide daytime support and activities to those 
with dementia whose needs will be best met by a specialist level of 
support. 

Meridian 
Healthcare 

A provision of day-care places in residential homes, available for spot 
purchasing.  The service provides daytime support and activities for 
older people including gardening, arts and crafts, cooking, bingo and 
reading, as well as an opportunity to meet new people, have fun and 
spend time away from their care setting. 

MIND (Tameside, 
Oldham and 
Glossop) 

This is a community gardening activity primarily aimed at people with 
a learning disability or mental health needs.  It is available for spot 
purchasing. 

People First 
Tameside 

This is the provision of daytime activities based on short courses and 
social activities for adults with a learning disability.  An individualised 
one-to-one service is also provided to support people in pursuing their 
hobbies or interests. 

Residential and 
Nursing Home 
Providers 

This is the provision of respite care in homes across the borough.  
Respite stays are booked by families with the homes directly and are 
available for spot purchasing. 
 

Page 28



Tameside Arts This is the provision of daytime activities for adults with a learning 
disability, offering adapted, accessible and inclusive person-centred 
arts, exercise and social activities.  The service is focused on the 
personal development of social skills through group work, as well as 
numeracy, literacy, communication and daily-life skills.  It also 
provides guided emotional support and has a strong therapeutic and 
developmental focus.  Spaces are available through spot purchasing. 

Tameside 
Countryside 

This is based at Lymefields Visitors Centre and takes on groups of 12 
people to take part in a variety of activities including health walks, 
environmental art, bushcraft, practical nature conservation tasks and 
relaxation.  Spaces are available for spot purchasing. 

 
6.64 The table above provides details of the Council-commissioned respite services in 

Tameside.  A range of different day services and activities are available, as well as the 
potential for longer stays in residential and nursing homes.  In addition to the above Adult 
Services provide daily respite for Adults with a Learning Disability living at home with 
carers/family.  There is also a specialised respite facility available for Adults with a Learning 
Disability of which 48 individuals use this provision to provide carer respite, there are also 
27 individuals who live with Shared Lives Carers who receive respite with an alternate 
Shared Lives Carer.  If more appropriate or necessary, respite care can be arranged to take 
place in the house of the cared-for person. 

 
6.65 As at November 2016, the average cost of a Council-commissioned day service is £30.60 

per day.  Respite through residential homes is costed at the agreed residential rates when 
commissioned by the Council.  If services are purchased privately, this is done directly with 
the provider and prices can be higher. 

 
6.66 If a service user is deemed eligible for respite they will be subject to a financial assessment 

under the Care Act for their care and support, however carers are not subject to any 
financial assessment and contribution to any funding they receive. 

 

Conclusions 
7. The more hours of care provided each week, the more important respite can become to 

carers in order to maintain their health and wellbeing and support them with future caring 
duties. 

 
8. The Council’s planned and unplanned respite provision for 2015/16 equated to over 

15,500 nights. 

 

Recommendations 
9. With heightened responsibilities for the assessment of carers, the Council closely monitors 

the incidence of respite requests from carers and the Council’s ongoing ability to deliver 
this provision if demand was to increase. 

 
Young Carers 

6.67 Current estimates put the number of young carers in Tameside at 374.  With the need for 
unpaid care increasing, it is anticipated that the number of young carers and the total 
number of hours of care they provide, will also rise.  This places a heightened importance 
on ensuring that there is an adequate range of effective support services available to help 
all young carers. 

 
6.68 Young carers can experience the same impacts from caring that adults do (see Sections 

6.16 – 6.28).  Their academic and social development can also suffer as a result of missing 
school and not spending as much time with friends, which can in turn affect their future job 
prospects and emotional development.  Being a young carer can make a child feel isolated 
and like they don’t fit in with other ‘normal’ children. 

 

Page 29



6.69 Local authorities are required to actively seek out children and young people who are 
providing care, to make sure that they are being supported by all means that they are 
eligible for.  Support plans are established following any assessment or reassessment and 
the Young Carers Service aims to make these as flexible as possible to make sure that 
support services are pertinent to the specific needs of each individual. 

 
6.70 When the Council becomes aware of a young person actively providing care, health and 

safety checks are conducted to ensure that the environment the young carer is in allows 
them to safely and adequately provide the necessary care for their cared for person.  These 
checks will make sure that there is the proper equipment in the property that care is being 
provided. 

 
6.71 The Council will liaise with the parents of young carers when establishing support plans and 

arrangements, to make certain that family members are aware of the support that the 
young carer needs, and how they can help to ensure that their child is emotionally and 
physically supported to provide care. 

 
6.72 First-aid training is also arranged by the Young Carers Service to improve young carers’ 

knowledge and experience of providing first-aid and helping their cared for person in 
different emergency situations.  This training is provided through St. Johns Ambulance. 

 
6.73 The Young Carers Service has developed a number of partnerships including the Council’s 

Adult Services department, and third sector organisations like Macmillan, Age UK and 
Action Together.  This helps to ensure that young carers are receiving the greatest breadth 
of support possible. 

 
6.74 Young carers who are transitioning into adulthood and/or employment are supported, along 

with their families and cared-for person, to help them to deal with any specific barriers 
inhibiting a healthy transition.  The person that is cared for is also involved in this process to 
make sure that they are adequately prepared for any changes to their care routine and 
setting. 

 
6.75 In 2015/16, a total budget of £42,000 was allocated to young carer’s grants, including: 

 Family Holiday Grant – This is to help young carers who wish to be able to go on a 
holiday with their family, by providing the necessary support for the cared for.  The 
amount provided through this grant ranges from £200-400. 

 School Holiday Grant – This grant is made available to allow young carers attending 
school to partake in school trips and school holidays that they may not have otherwise 
been able to fully or partly afford. 

 Individual Activity Grant – This is to help young carers to attend individual activities 
and groups.  This can help to give young carers a much needed break from caring and 
allows them to do something that is enjoyable and personal to them. 

 Furnishing Grant – This grant covers the equipment and furnishing needs identified 
during young carer’s assessments and can be used for specific caring equipment or 
other needed items.  In 2015/16 the total funding for this grant was £2,000. 

 
6.76 There is no specific eligibility criteria to access these grants, meaning that a decision is 

pertinent to the situation of each young carer and of their specific support needs.  Going 
forward, the Young Carers Service is looking to introduce eligibility criteria for each grant 
(see Section 6.81). 

 
6.77 Trips and holidays are arranged by the Young Carers Service which can be a day trip or a 

weekend break.  Previous holidays have been arranged to Blackpool Pleasure Beach and 
Centre Parcs.  These are extremely valued activities as they help young carers to connect 
and make friends with other people in similar situations as them. 

 

Page 30



6.78 A Schools Network has been introduced by the Young Carers Service to establish more 
effective partnership work with schools across the borough.  One of the main aims of this 
partnership approach is to make sure that schools have the effective support services 
available for young carers.  Denton Community College, for example, runs specific young 
carers support groups, giving their students who are young carers to discuss any issues 
and establish friendships with students in similar situations.  

 

Conclusions 
9. A range of support mechanisms are in place for young carers, including a variety of 

Council-commissioned grants. 

 

Recommendations 
10. That the Council looks to build on the current Schools Network that has been established 

to ensure that there are support groups or trained persons within all schools that young 
carers can discuss any issues with. 

 
11.That the Council’s Adult and Children’s Services work with external partners to establish a 

more robust data collection and sharing system, to allow more effective monitoring of 
services and provide more seamless, integrated support for carers. 

 
 
7. CONCLUSIONS 
 
7.1 A significant number of Tameside adults and children are providing unpaid care within the 

community. 
 
7.2 Tameside has a higher proportion of carers reporting to be in bad or very bad health (8.2%) 

than the rest of England and Wales (6.7%). 
 
7.3 It can be common for carers to unintentionally neglect their own personal, social and 

emotional wellbeing as a result of caring. 
 
7.4 Carers are at an increased risk of feeling lonely and becoming socially isolated. 
 
7.5 Since April 2015, the Council has had a statutory responsibility to ensure that all identified 

carers receive an assessment to identify specific support needs and whether they meet 
eligibility criteria. 

 
7.6 The change of location for the Carer’s Centre has resulted in a significantly reduced 

number of visitors and residents receiving advice and support. 
 
7.7 The more hours of care provided each week, the more important respite can become to 

carers in order to maintain their health and wellbeing and support them with future caring 
duties. 

 
7.8 The Council’s planned and unplanned respite provision for 2015/16 equated to over 15,500 

nights. 
 
7.9  A range of support mechanisms are in place for young carers, including a variety of 

Council-commissioned grants. 
 
 
8. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
8.1 That the Council closely monitor the prevalence of poor health among carers assessed in 

Tameside, with specific support and/or interventions to identify any potential quick fixes to 
aid health and future capacity. 

Page 31



8.2 That the Council focuses on improving awareness of the excellent support provided by 
Tameside carers, and the significance of their contribution to the local health and social 
care economy. 

 
8.3 That the Council ensures that ongoing emphasis is placed on creating holistic support plans 

for both adult and young carers that supports the breadth of physical and mental health 
needs. 

 
8.4 That the Council and partners look to determine the incidence and impacts that social 

isolation and loneliness has on carers in Tameside, and possible earlier interventions and 
support mechanisms. 

 
8.5 That the Council explores further locations and options to ensure carer’s assessments are 

carried out in a setting that suits the needs of the carer while allowing clear practical 
evidence to be gathered. 

 
8.6 That the Council closely monitors the number of telephone assessments which result in 

further re-assessments to meet an originally unidentified need, with a view to increasing 
ability to meet all needs at the earliest opportunity. 

 
8.7 That avenues are explored to improve any possible privacy issues within the centre and 

also heighten awareness of the current location and offer of the Carer’s Centre within 
communities. 

 
8.8 That the Council examines any barriers created by the relocation of the Carer’s Centre to 

inform a possible future decision to find a more suitable location earlier than first planned. 
 
8.9 With heightened responsibilities for the assessment of carers, the Council closely monitors 

the incidence of respite requests from carers and the Council’s ongoing ability to deliver this 
provision if demand was to increase. 

 
8.10 That the Council looks to build on the current Schools Network that has been established to 

ensure that there are support groups or trained persons within all schools that young carers 
can discuss any issues with. 

 
8.11 That the Council’s Adult and Children’s Services work with external partners to establish a 

more robust data collection and sharing system, to allow more effective monitoring of 
services and provide more seamless, integrated support for carers. 

 

Page 32



 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Bill Fairfoull 
Deputy Executive Leader 
 
 
Ms Kathy Roe 
Director of Finance – Section 151 Officer 
Tameside MBC 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Chairs of the Scrutiny Panels 

 
Councillors Gillian Peet and Mike Glover 

 
Dukinfield Town Hall 
King Street 
SK16 4LA 
 
email:  paul.radcliffe@tameside.gov.uk  
Ask for Paul Radcliffe 
Direct Line 0161 342 2199  
Date 30 January 2019 

 
Dear Councillor Fairfoull and Ms Roe,  
 
Consultation with Scrutiny Panels on the 2019/20 Budget 
 
We write in response to the budget consultation meetings held on 28 January 2019, at which an 
opportunity was provided for all scrutiny members to receive a comprehensive overview of the 
Council’s budget and savings plan for 2019/20.   
 
This letter provides an account of discussions captured from the meetings, with a request that 
consideration be given towards the points raised prior to a budget report being finalised.  We would 
be grateful if you could share this letter at the joint meeting of Executive Cabinet and Overview 
(Audit) Panel on 13 February 2019.  Please pass our thanks to the Assistant Director of Finance 
for the helpful summary of both the Council and CCG financial positions and future priorities for the 
Strategic Commission. 
 
During 2018/19 the Scrutiny Panels have continued to review the ability of services to improve 
outcomes for residents while at the same time deliver value for money.  An example of such 
activity includes the monitoring of STAR procurement and the aim of this partnership to improve 
standards and provide financial benefits to the Council.   
 
Panel members recognise the unprecedented challenges that our Children’s Services continue to 
face and scrutiny is supportive of the short-term need to allocate additional financial resource.  
Improving outcomes for our children must remain a priority, however there is a growing need to 
establish a medium to long-term strategy for the service to achieve financial sustainability.  When 
considering the number of children looked after, Tameside is currently much higher than statistical 
neighbours and concerns were raised by members as to the potential impacts this will have on 
future outcomes for children.   
 
Members discussed the positive impact that preventative services and partnerships can have in 
promoting the wellbeing of children and families in Tameside.  It is accepted that funding for early 
intervention services have been under pressure, which may be a contributing factor to the rise in 
demand for statutory interventions.  It feels that there is a future need to address this deficit where 
possible through greater short-term investment to reduce long-term demand. 
 
The Executive has supported a new reporting method to ensure that scrutiny is able to relay the 
most appropriate concerns without delay.  This has proved useful during recent months with the 
submission of formal response letters for Children’s Services improvement, Community Safety and 
Procurement.  This has been further supported by the introduction of a monthly Scrutiny Update 
email aimed to raise member awareness and participation in a range of open consultations.  The 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



December update included details on the recent Budget Conversation, with members identifying 
the benefits to this public engagement. 
 
The four year financial settlement agreed in 2016/17 has helped to provide a level of certainty 
when it comes to funding decisions and saving plans.  It was reported that 2019/20 is the final year 
of this agreement and reassurance was sought in relation to future decision making.  Mr Wilkinson 
advised members that a greater degree of financial oversight had been incorporated, with 2019/20 
spending proposals having been subject to a ‘Star Chamber’ approach. 
 
It was encouraging to hear that all decisions made through the Strategic Commission aim to 
remove duplication and promote the effective use of a pooled financial resource.  With a combined 
budget of almost £1 billion, it is important for financial plans to remove the need to separate or 
transfer costs between organisations. 
 
The £26 million reduction in general Government Grants is also accompanied by cost pressures 
and inflation associated with capital projects.  With income from Council Tax only amounting to 
around 16% of the Council’s total expenditure, this does mean that the authority has limited options 
for ways to increase revenue in real terms.  All members are supportive of the need to address this 
going forward by means the Executive and Senior Officers looking for new and innovative ways to 
both save money and increase core spending power beyond 2020. 
 
Mr Wilkinson advised that when compared with funding sources of the CCG, the Council’s overall 
budget is subject to greater uncertainty and external pressures.  Based on a varied funding stream 
and associated risks, it has become increasingly important for the Council to make difficult 
decisions to ensure that a net increase in funding occurs.  As an example, members were informed 
that if a decision was made not to increase Council Tax the financial gap will increase and 
additional savings would then need to be allocated to services that remain stretched. 
 
Members appreciate that the Council has limited ability to increase revenue when taking account of 
the relatively low base levels for Council Tax and Business Rates, which is also further 
exacerbated by the economic and health needs of residents.  It is felt that the strategic direction for 
growth and investment have an important role to play going forward.  The Place and External 
Relations Scrutiny Panel are soon to revisit the subject of economic strategy and business growth. 
 
With a need to plan past 2020, scrutiny members are fully supportive of the aim to encourage 
budget conversations at a much earlier stage during the next financial year and would like to 
provide the opportunity to consult from September 2019 onwards.  The information presented at 
the meeting will now be used to inform scrutiny work programme priorities. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
Councillor G Peet - Chair to Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel  
 
Councillor M Glover – Chair to Place and External Relations Scrutiny Panel 

Page 34



Quality of Care Homes in Tameside 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Improving standards of care and support for older people is a priority for the Council.  In 

order for sustained improvements in the quality of care to be achieved there is a 
requirement to encourage the participation of residents receiving care, their family, other 
professionals and the wider community.  Changes to the regulatory system and the number 
of quality improvement initiatives can also make it confusing to know where to start. 

 
1.2 As well as checking whether care homes meet national required standards, the Care 

Quality Commission (CQC) has a role in service improvement.  Inspectors will start by 
looking for evidence that the service is ‘good’, setting their expectations above the minimum 
acceptable standards needed for registration.  Care home managers therefore need to:  
- Know what a ‘good’ service looks like  
- Have a clear understanding of their service and how it is performing  
- Gather evidence to support their self-assessment  
 
 

2. Background 
 
2.1 Following the request for care home information to be presented at a meeting of the 

Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel on 13 September 2018, a working group was 
established to examine the quality and standards across residential and nursing home 
providers in Tameside.  Scrutiny members are aware of the joint commissioning 
arrangements in place and the shared ambition to raise standards, with investment in a 
Quality Improvement Team (QIT). 

 
2.2 The Council holds contractual powers to gain assurances that residents receive the 

appropriate level of care to meet their needs, with a further statutory safeguarding role 
assigned to the Director of Adult Services (DASS).  Despite local performance monitoring 
arrangements the Council has no regulatory powers to inspect residential or nursing homes 
and this is undertaken by the CQC as the independent regulator of health and social care in 
England.  It is important to note that the Care Act does give the Council a statutory role to 
intervene in the event of market failure.  

 
2.3 Traditionally, local authority improvement work with care homes has tended to be in the 

form of routine monitoring with performance measures.  Existing commissioning 
arrangements include an Enhanced Quality Scheme which is designed to financially 
incentivise providers to investment in their workforce, as well as demonstrating community 
engagement and using ‘life stories’ to enhance the quality of service.  Further proxy 
measures include: 

 The provider has organised 3 or more events that involve the wider community during 
the past 12 months. 

 70% of residents with life stories completed within 2 months of the placement. 

 85% of staff QCF qualified to level 2 and/or registered on a QCF level 2 course 
(excluding modern apprentices).  

 Registered manager qualified at level 4. 

 Completion of 6 steps or Gold Standard Framework Accredited. 

 The provider will have an overall CQC rating of ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’. 

 The provider attends 75% of the Care Home Provider Forum meetings. 

 That 80% of the monthly monitoring forms are returned. 
 
2.4 A new contract measure will be introduced in April 2019 to change the enhanced payment 

criteria.  This now stipulates that providers need to be rated at least ‘Good’ by the CQC in 
order to apply for the additional payment.  The contract also changed the Key Performance 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



Indicators reported and there are multiagency meetings to discuss these indicators to 
identify actions. 

 
2.5 As of September 2018 there were 38 care homes in Tameside providing a total of 1606 

beds.  The market is separated between 27 residential homes (1038 beds) and 11 nursing 
homes (568 beds).  The CQC inspection breakdown was: 

 0 providers rated Outstanding 

 20 providers rated Good 

 13 providers rated Requires Improvement 

 3 providers rated Inadequate 

 2 providers yet to be inspected  
 
2.6 A single national provider (HC-One) supplies more than 40% of all care home beds in 

Tameside.  The CQC rating profile for HC-One showed 37.5% (6 homes) rated ‘Good’, 
compared with the local rate of 52.6% from the figures shown in paragraph 1.3. 

 
 
3.  Quality Standards 
 
3.1 The Care Quality Commission (CQC) registers and inspects every care home in England.  

All homes are inspected on a ‘regular basis’, with frequency determined by the current 
rating of each home.  The inspection methodology focuses on five key lines of enquiry 
(KLOE), prompts and sources of evidence to inform the overall judgement rating. 

 
3.2 As part of the CQC inspection process, performance against the each of the five domains is 

rated to be Outstanding, Good, Requires Improvement or Inadequate.  The table below 
provides further detail of the inspection process against each area. 

 

CQC – Key Lines of Enquiry 

Is it safe? 
 

- Safeguarding and protection from abuse 
- Managing risks 
- Suitable staff and staff cover 
- Medicines management 
- Infection control 
- Learning when things go wrong 

Is it effective?  
 

- Assessing needs and delivering evidence-based treatment 
- Staff skills and knowledge 
- Nutrition and hydration 
- How staff, teams and services work together 
- Supporting people to live healthier lives 
- Accessible premises 
- Consent to care and treatment 
- Kindness, respect and compassion 
- Involving people in decisions about their care 
- Privacy and dignity 

Is it responsive?  
 

- Person-centred care 
- Concerns and complaints 
- End of life care 

Is it well-led? - Vision and strategy 
- Governance and management 
- Engagement and involvement 
- Learning, improvement and innovation 
- Working in partnership 

  
 
 
 

Page 36



4. Contracts Performance 
 
4.1 Feedback from contracts performance visits is routinely shared with care homes managers 

and highlights areas for attention to be focused.  Recent (March 2019) priorities include: 

 Staff training, supervision and competency assessments 

 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards, Mental Capacity Act & consent 

 Supporting residents with dementia 

 Activities and connecting to the local community 

 Medications management & administration 

 The care home environment (making it more dementia friendly) 

 Embedding quality assurance systems 
 
4.2 Contract Performance Officers provide a proactive presence in care homes to support and 

assist improvement.  A website is also available to support local care homes by providing 
links to good practice at www.tamesideandglossopccg.org/local-services/care-homes. 

 
4.3 Senior managers within Adult Services receive regular updates when a CQC report is 

issued, along with any actions to be undertaken by services.  Activity is also undertaken to 
ensure consideration is given to likely outcomes from CQC visits.  The Strategic 
Commissioning Board also receive regular quality assurance updates about the care 
sector, to pick up on both areas of concern and good examples of improvement practice. 

 
4.4 The Quarter 4 Care Home Manager’s Forum took place on 24 January 2019, the following 

sessions were included on the agenda: 

 Community Involvement – Public Health. 

 Oral Health – Be Well Team. 

 Medicines Management Update. 

 Learning from Falls – Sunnyside Care Home and Quality Improvement Team. 
 
 
5. Quality Improvement Team (QIT) 
 
5.1 The Quality Improvement Team was created to provide direct support to independent 

providers across the health and social care sector in Tameside, with the overarching need 
to improve the quality of service provision.  The team’s primary focus was to be placed on 
current homes rated ‘Inadequate’ and ‘Requires Improvement’, with the drive to raise 
standards and to improve ratings to ‘Good’ and ‘Outstanding’.  Future options may be 
explored to extend priorities to include the Support at Home Service and Supported 
Accommodation.  

 
5.2 The team is multi-agency and consists of a Team Manager, two Social Workers, one Nurse 

and one Medicines Management Technician, with a full complement of staff reached in May 
2018.  The team is hosted in the Quality and Safeguarding Directorate of the CCG. 

 
5.3 It is important that team members develop and maintain strong working relationships with 

care home owners and managers in order to provide the levels of direct support needed to 
improve practice standards.  The levels of support can be broken down by provider, as: 

 High – Inadequate provider. 

 Medium – Requires Improvement provider. 

 Low – Good provider. 
 
5.4 Benefits will initially be of a qualitative nature as the team supports each care home to 

improve the CQC rating.  It is also recommended that further work is undertaken to refine 
operating models with a view to adopting the most cost effective model.  Common support 
themes emerging across providers include that of leadership, workforce culture and 
development, mental capacity, policies, systems, processes and medicines management.  

Page 37

http://www.tamesideandglossopccg.org/local-services/care-homes


The team will explore ways to unblock barriers, source training and education opportunities, 
develop partnership links and seek to address any knowledge and experience gaps. 

 
5.5 The support is offered through a supportive model (PQuIP) which involves partnership 

working with the care home in a non-judgemental way to identify areas for improvement.  
There is a broad offer to provide support around leadership, guidance, advice, expertise 
and to ultimately promote best practice to improve outcomes for residents and to meet 
CQC standards.  The team will also undertake work with providers to develop a bespoke 
improvement plan. 

 
5.6 A ‘Buddy Scheme’ was launched in December 2018 and is a supportive arrangement 

between new and existing residential and nursing home managers, with a purpose to offer 
operational support to new managers who move into the borough.  

 
QIT initiatives offered in Quarter 3 of 2018/19 
 

Quality Initiative Provider Homes Involved 

Oral health Be Well Tameside Majority of homes have now received 
training 
 

Tameside & Glossop Red 
Bag Scheme 

Tameside & Glossop 
CCG 

The team continue to support care home 
managers with the implementation of the 
scheme 

Neighbourhood Meetings QIT team QIT are now linked in with Neighbourhoods 
and attend meetings  
 

Care Home Quality Review 
Group 

Strategic Commission  QIT Team Leader represents at Care Home 
Quality Review Group 
 

 
Medicines Management 

QIT team Meds 
technicians 

All Inadequate and Requires Improvement 
Care homes have now been audited and 
those that have failed are receiving ongoing 
support from meds tech and QIT team. 

Staff Develolpment QIT team, Local 
Authority, Strategic 
Commission 

Refresh of Training Consortium Steering 
Group. This work is ongoing  
 

Tissue Viability and 
Infection Prevention 

Tameside & Glossop 
ICFT 

QIT team continue to work with ICFT 
infection prevention team and Tissue 
Viability team 
 

6 Steps Celebration event ICFT Palliative Care 
Team 

Celebration event held in Qtr 3 for 7 homes 
that have completed 6 steps programme.  
Programme will be offerred to all care 
homes in 2019 alongside a programme of 
palliative and end of life care training for 
care staff. 

Buddy Scheme Tameside & Glossop 
CCG QIT team 

Buddy Scheme launched in Qtr 3 to all 
homes 
 

Teaching Care homes GM Offerred to homes who met criteria for 
consideration.  1 Care home signed up in 
Tameside. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



6. Quality of Care in Tameside (March 2019) 
 
6.1 The number of care homes rated ‘Good’ in Tameside has improved from 42% to 69% 

(accurate as at the 5 March 2019).  There remains one home rated Inadequate and the 
Quality Improvement Team continue to support the provider to make service improvements.  
A re-inspection commenced on 22 January 2019, with the home now awaiting the final 
judgement. 

 
6.2 The home remains suspended from new admissions and this will continue until the CQC 

rating is improved.  Current residents are not deemed to be at risk and feedback from 
residents and families is positive. 
 
CQC ratings across residential and nursing homes in Tameside (March 2019) 

 

 
 
6.2 The graph below was shared with the care homes managers at a meeting on the 24 

January 2019 
 

 
 
6.3 Additional information shared with senior managers includes (accurate as of the 5 March 2019).  

The data shows that only 2% of care home beds in Tameside are within ‘Inadequate’ provision. 

CQC Rating No. of Homes 
No. of 
beds 

Outstanding 0 0 

Good 24 989 

RI 10 478 

Inadequate 1 30 

  35 1497 
 
 

Outstandi
ng

Good RI
Inadequat

e
Not

Inspected

CQC Rating 0 24 10 1 0

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

N
u

m
b

e
rs

 o
f 

C
ar

e
 H

o
m

e
s 

CQC Ratings - Position 5 March 2019 

20
40
60

% Good Care & Nursing Homes - 
Tameside Only 

Page 39



7. Next Steps 
 
7.1 Some of the planned next steps include: 

 Continue to Challenge inadequate provision. 

 Continue to support improvement across the whole care home sector. 

 Risk assessment undertaken to ensure homes are maintaining CQC standards 
between inspections. 

 System challenge where inequalities are identified regarding access to services. 

 Support care homes to maintain improved practice standards. 

 Support to providers in relation to workforce issues – e.g. effective supervisions and 
competency assessments. 

 To explore options to better support providers with workforce training needs. 

 Contracts performance visits will be undertaken twice a year – one announced visit and 
one unannounced visit. 

 
 

8.1 Recommendations 
 
8.1 To review options and plans beyond the medium-term funding allocated to the Quality 

Improvement Team.  Should permanence arrangements be explored to deliver a long-term 
ambition to raise the quality of care in Tameside? 

 
8.2 To explore how the Council and partners can work to deliver a system and sector-wide 

approach to accessible training and development for care home staff, supporting the 
ambition to make working in care a positive career choice. 

 
8.3 To analysis the impact of the quality initiatives delivered, with the view to developing a 

detailed forward plan for 2019/20. 
 
8.4 To monitor the impact of care home closures on the improvement statistics and the impact 

that low bed occupancy rates within homes can have on a providers ability to maintain 
quality standards.  

 
8.5 That work is undertaken with providers to identify ways to further improve the bespoke 

support delivered and to highlight the individual quality triggers for all care home the Quality 
Improvement Team work with.  

Page 40


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	3a CARERS EXECUTIVE RESPONSE UPDATE
	3b REVIEW OF CARERS IN TAMESIDE
	4 SCRUTINY BUDGET LETTER
	6 QUALITY OF CARE HOMES

